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THE GROWTH AND SIGNIFICANCE OF THE NINETEENTH CENTURY SHELL
COLLECTIONS IN THE CITY OF BRISTOL MUSEUM AND ART GALLERY

C. J. T. Copp

INTRODUCTION

On 12 November 1940 the Bristol Museum was badly damaged by
fire during an air raid. The Greville Smythe Room, which housed
the greater part of the natural history invertebrate collections,
was destroyed along with many thousands of specimens. Those
specimens recovered from the damage, together with reserve
collections which had not been on display, were removed to the
basement of the adjacent City Art Gallery where they remained, in
need of attention and rehousing, until 1972. There had been a
plan to build a new museum at another site in the city but when
this scheme was eventually abandoned it was decided to use the
available funds to improve the storage in the Art Gallery
building in Queen's Road, now housing both Museum and Art
Gallery.

The storage project (Elkin 1975) involved the complete
refurbishment of the Art Gallery's basement area and the
construction of special storage units. In the natural history and
archaeology stores, the larger items were housed on Dexion
racking, much of which was glass-fronted, while the smaller items
were stored in specially constructed wooden "Smithsonian units",
which are mobile boxes on castors with lift-off fronts and
interchangeable drawers. In 1976, when I joined the Museum, the
main phase of this storage project had been completed and the
task of sorting and cataloguing the specimens had begun. The
shell collections were partially housed in Smithsonian units, but
for the most part were still wrapped in tissue and stored in the
large cardboard boxes in which they had been fumigated.

My first task was to unwrap the collection, lay it out in
Smithsonian unit drawers, and then sort the collection into
taxonomic and geographical order. Some British collections have
been left in their original cabinets but most will eventually be
incorporated into the main taxonomic run with some specimens
going into a separate reference collection of British species
which is maintained to deal with straightforward identifications.
After this sorting the task of cleaning, reboxing, identifying,
registering and cataloguing the collection has proceeded. To date
over sixteen thousand out of an estimated hundred thousand shells
have now been identified and listed. This includes most of the
groups popular with collectors such as volutes, cowries, murexes,
cones and strombids. Many of the remaining groups await attention
from taxonomic specialists.

Much of the shell collections had become jumbled through
their long history, especially the catastrophe of 1940, and the
only way properly to elucidate the significance of the collection
was to go back to the records and trace the origin and growth of



the collection. This approach has proved immensely successful and
has been extended to the botanical collections (Ratcliffe 1984).
It is in progress for the entomology collections (for preliminary

conculsions see Copp 1985b). The envisaged result will be a well.

ordered and documented series of collections whose context is
regarded as important as their content.

HISTORY OF THE COLLECTIONS

The collections now in the City of Bristol Museum & Art
Gallery have had a long and chequered hlstory (Copp, 1in
press).The natural history and geology collections in particular
have direct continuity with those of the first Bristol Museum
housed in the Bristol Institution for the Advancement of Science,
Literature and the Arts, which opened in 1823 (Conybeare 1836,
Barker 1906). From that time the development of the collections
has fallen into three distinct phases. The first period lasted
from 1823 until 1894 when the collections were in the possession
of the Bristol Institution and its successor the Bristol Museum
and Library Association. The second phase covers the period from
1894, when the collections passed into public ownership, until
1940. After terrible destruction caused during the air raid of
1940, the last period was a time when the collections reached
their lowest ebb followed by a slow recovery and their eventual
reorganisation. It is with the first phase of the museum's life,
from 1823 to 1894, that this paper is principally concerned.

The social climate in relation to the development of natural
history in Britain has been well described by Allen (1978). At
the beginning of the nineteenth century the study of natural
history was becoming more widespread and, indeed, some form of
collecting was almost a social requisite. Although some branches
of natural history were slow off the mark and others such as
botany were curiously becoming thought of as suitable mainly for
ladies, conchology was a well established subject for collections
by the beqlnnlng of the nineteenth century. The opening up of
foreign trade in the elghteenth century provided an 1ncrea51ng
source of exotic spec1mens, and wealthy enthusiasts would vie
with each other in the accumulation of species and the
acquisition of rare specimens. Such affluent support soon led to
the publication of large coloured reference works which in
themselves were the source of a multitude of popular books which
appeared when newer and cheaper printing methods were developed
in the nineteenth century.

Of natural sciences only geology enjoyed a higher reputation
than conchology. Although geology was a relatively new subject
its strong economic bias, as in the search for coal, appealed to
the mood of the times and the geologist commanded a manly oOr
rugged image whereas the collectors of plants or insects all too
frequently suffered embarrassment at the hands of amused
onlookers. Many of the early geologists were "natural
philosophers" in the widest sense and studied many branches of
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natural history, so it is little surprise to find that geologists
were among the most active contributors to the growing
Institute's collections and their names appear many times on the
list of shell donations.

GEOLOGISTS AND CURATORS

The pre-—-eminence of geology in the early nineteenth century,
and particularly the historical associations of the Bristol and
Bath districts with the development of that science, naturally
favoured the appointment of geologists to the curatorship of the
Museum of the Bristol Institution. This was also true for
Bristol's sister establishment, the Bath Literary and Scientific
Institution, founded 1825 (Torrens 1975). The first curator of
the Museum of the Bristol Institution was J. S. Miller (c. 1780 -
1830) who worked there from 1823 until 1830, and was originally
recommended to the post by Adam Sedgwick (1785-1873), Professor
W. Buckland (1784-1856) and Professor Robert Jameson (1774 -
1854). Miller is best remembered as a geologist, particularly
for his work on crinoids, but he was also the describer of two
new living species of British land snails, Oxychilus alliarius
(Miller) and Zenobiella subrufescens (Miller) (Miller 1822). He
was also instrumental in the discovery and identification in
Britain of the land snail Testacella maugei (Ferussac) (Taylor
1902). His published works included a list of the freshwater and
land snails of the environs of Bristol (Miller 1822) and the
Museum has recently acquired Miller's copy of Turton's
Conchological Dictionary of the British Islands (1819), which he
had extensively annotated and illustrated, thus underlining his
interests in conchology.

The museum's second curator, Samuel Stutchbury (1798-1859),
came equally well recommended by W. J. Broderip (1789-1859),
Henry A. Palmer, William Everett, William Kirby (1759-1850), C.
Stokes (1783-1853). William Yarrell (1784-1856) and Henry T. De
la Beche (1796=1855) (Crane 1983). Stutchbury spent two years as
a naturalist to a pearl fishing expedition in the South Seas, and
after his return - several years before he was appointed to the
Bristol Institution in 1831 - he appears to have worked for his
brother. He brought much natural history and ethnographical
material back with him. Much of this was sold, but some found
its way into the Institution's collections. Stutchbury described
several new species of living and fossil molluscs. The living
species included (Stutchbury's names quoted) Myochama anomiodes,
Cleidothyris brevis, Cleidothyris chamoides, Anatina (Myodora)
pandoriformis, Anatina brevis, Anatina crassa, Anatina ovalis,
and Anatina elongata. He described one new genus, Cypraecassis,
from Cypraecassis rufa, the Bull's-mouth Helmet shell sent to him
by a Dr. Cutting of 'Barbadoes'. From this source he also
obtained a unique specimen of the bivalve Pholadomya candida with
the soft parts preserved (Morton 1980). Among Stutchbury's other
exciting discoveries was the first living specimen of the bivalve
Trigonia which like Pholadomya had been thought to be long
extinct and which gave rise to much argument in the growing
debate on evolution (Crane 1976).




The energies and efforts of Miller and Stutchbury ensured
the rapid growth and consolidation of the Institution's
collections. Both made extensive use of Bristol's links through
foreign trade as a source of new specimens. Stutchbury even had
a booklet prepared for distribution to sea captains and-others,
outlining suitable techniques of collection and preservation
(Crane 1982). In some instances dredges for shells, collecting
bottles and preservatives were also supplied to those who offered
to collect for him.

The intellectual standing of these first two curators was
also of benefit to the Institution through the various academic
connections they maintained. 1In this way men including Roderick
Murchison (1792-1871), Richard Owen (1804-1892). Louis Agassiz
(1807-1873) and Charles Lyell (1797-1875) came to be associated
with the Institution. Owen and Agassiz described various
specimens in the natural history and geology collections.

It is beyond doubt that the quality of the curators employed
in the Institution was of enormous benefit to the museum, but the
reciprocal effect on the curators seems altogether subject to
question. Despite the lofty sentiments often expressed in the
Institution's annual reports, the treatment of curators was often
less than noble. Typical of this was the appointment of Miller.
Despite declaring the importance of appointing a highly qualified
individual to take charge of the collections and praising
Miller's international reputation, the report for 1823 (read at
the Annual Meeting of 1824) stated that the "circumstance of the
institution during the preceding year not having required the
actual attendance of the curator his services have hitherto been
gratuitously rendered". Furthermore his second year was also on
a "provisional Dbasis" after which they would entertain the
question of a salary. This appointment was, in fact, annually
renewable, but in his obituary, however, the appointment was
described by a sympathiser as a cause for deep regret and sorrow
(J[elly], 1833)! Apparently for six hours a day, three days a
week, Mr Miller "whom Baron Cuvier himself thought worthy of
praise and commendation was doomed to the misery and degradation
of having to ‘shew the lions' of the exhibition to every ignorant
and idle gazer whom curiosity and a members ticket brought
thither!". Miller worked twelve or thirteen hours a day, six
daysaiweek,cn1thecollectionsandjj:wasjJ1partthisexcessive
confinement which led to the deterioration and collapse of his
health.

This cavalier treatment of curators did not substantially
improve through the century. When Edward Wilson (1848-1898) was
curator the Library and Museum Association was falling on hard
times and so from 1886 ceased to pay him a full and regular
salary a situation which was only remedied when the museum passed
into public hands in 1894. After the death of Crocker, the
Assistant, in 1891, Wilson recieved "a regular, although very
small salary". In 1892 this was £50, half of his 1885 salary !
Wilson was a geologist with a particular interest in fossil
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gastropods, but like his predecessors his knowledge extended to
living mollusca. Despite his conditions of work he added many
new shells to the collections including new species of land
shells from Australia. He co-operated with W. H. Hudleston
(1828-1909) on a catalogue of British Jurassic Gastropoda
(Hudleston and Wilson 1892) and also knew Ralph Tate (1840-1901),
from whom he may have obtained his Australian material.

Other curators during the nineteenth century were primarily
gecologists although, like E. B. Tawney (1841-1882), they worked
on all the collections leaving their annotations on labels and in
catalogues. W. J. Sollas (1849-1936) worked through the
invertebrate collections and described a number of new species of
sponge. He was appointed to the Chair of Zoology and Geology at
Bristol University, in 1880 and resigned from the Museum in 1882
because the University Collection "required his entire services".

During this period a number of assistant curators were
employed and several notable volunteers worked on the
collections. One of these, the Rev T. G. Ponton (dates not known)
was a well-known conchologist who collected local land and
freshwater molluscs, and contributed a paper on the freshwater
mussel Dreissena polymorpha to the Bristol Naturalists Society
(Ponton 1869). Dreissena 1s an introduced species, first
discovered in the Commercial Dock, London, in 1824. A specimen
was given to the Bristol Institution by W. J. Broderip (1789~
1859) in 1825, and J. S. Miller introduced the species into local
canals from where it spread. Ponton also provided information
for Adolf Leipner's (1827-1894) list of Bristol Museum's shell
collections catalogue, which together with later annotations by
Wilson and others is a valuable source of information on the
content of shell collections up until the turn of the century.

DEALERS

Natural history dealers were very numerous in the nineteenth
century. Virtually every town and city had its local taxidermist
whose work is generally well represented in museums. The direct
role of dealers in the growth of museums' shell collections, was,
however, much smaller. Individuals tended to buy at sales or
through dealers and it was their collections which eventually
passed to museums. Museums did not often go direct to shell
dealers for specimens although around the end of t he nineteenth
century Sowerby and Fulton Ltd were selling sets of molluscs
together with display notes and labels to local museums.

From the middle of the nineteenth century until the early
twentieth century the Bristol natural history dealers Theodore
and H. J. Charbonnier played an important role in the care and
growth of the Museum's collections, but the number of shells
given was insignificant compared to the collections of birds and
insects which were their main stock in trade.

Earlier in the century, however, when Samuel Stutchbury was



Curator of the Bristol Institution, he obtained numerous
specimens of rare shells from Australia and the West Indies
through his brother Henry Stutchbury (1796-1853) who was a
natural history dealer and who himself took over as curator of
the Institution for a year in 1852 after his brother left for a
geological post in Australia.

THE IMPORTANCE OF TRADE

In the early nineteenth century Bristol was a thriving and
busy port. There were many merchant ship companies and there
were probably few Bristolians with any capital who did not at
least own shares in a vessel. Many of the wealthier merchant
families were related by business and intermarriage. In this
way many of the members of establishments such as the various
dining clubs, the Library Society and later the Bristol
Institution were ship owners or were related to one. The
proprietors of the Institution were quick to appreciate this and
as early as 1824 were earnestly recommending "all those zealous
for the prosperity of the Institution" to help enlarge the
Museum's collections through the City's extensive foreign trade
by "inducing captains and agents with whom they may be connected,
to bestow some attention on these subjects, and forward such
specimens as they may be able thus to procure." It was to this
end that Stutchbury's advisory booklet (Crane 1982) was written,
and ship-owning members of the Institution, including members of
the Ames, Bryant, Cave, King, Poole-King, and Thorne families,
are prominent among the early donors to the Museum (see list of
donations given by Copp 1985a).

Bristol's shipping connections had been built on the slave
trade with its triangular route which took ships to the Guinea
Coast of West Africa, +then to the West Indies and back to
Bristol. When the slave trade was abolished for the British
ships there was a slackening off of the Guinea trade but the
large fleets of "West-Indiamen" remained. This emphasis on the
West Indian trade also led numerous Bristolians to settle in the
Caribbean area, mainly as plantation owners, or as professional
men such as doctors and clerics. This has been a prominent trend
in the eighteenth century especially for those fleeing Bristol's
damp climate which encouraged chest ailments. Many of these
settlers maintained close links with the Bristol Institution and
sent back specimens. Some of the earliest items in the
collections, at one time including shells, were collected by Dr
Arthur Broughton between 1750 and 1796. He had been a physician
at the Bristol Royal Infirmary but after a period of sick leave
following a bad attack of "influenza", he settled in Jamaica.
His collections were bequeathed to the Bristol Library Society
and probably came into the Museum when the two institutions
merged in 1870. The surviving herbarium includes type and cited
specimens used in the Flora of Jamaica (see Crane 1981).

Another expatriate doctor with strong links with Bristol was
Dr. J. H. Cutting of Barbados, of whom little is known. He was,
however, a major contributor to the Institute's collections
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between 1834 and 1841 whilst Stutchbury was curator. Among the
new and rare specimens he sent were the pickled specimen of
Pholadomya candida (see Morton 1980), a new sponge Dactylocalyx,
and what was probably the first complete specimen of a living
stalked species of sea lily (Pentacrinus sp.). The list of shell
donations (Appendix 1) gives some indication of how much material
was being obtained from the West Indies in the first part of the
nineteenth century.

The West African Trade was revived towards the middle of the
century as traders sought palm o0il, ivory and other natural
resources. Again this proved an abundant source of specimens.
It was through sea captains that Stutchbury obtained some of the
first gorilla skulls to be brought back to this country; these
were described by Richard Owen (1849). Various living animals,
including monkeys, zebras and lions were also collected for the
West of England Zoological Society (more commonly known as
Bristol Zoo), and on their death some eventually ended up on
display in the Institution. Professional men and officials also
took advantage of voyages and postings to this part of the world
to collect specimens for the Institution. Among these was Robert
Rankin, Chief Justice of Sierra Leone, who in 1836 sent natural
objects of all kinds back to Stutchbury, including shells at
least one of which, a pale Bolinus cornutus from the mouth of the
Gambia, was figured by Reeve, in the Conchologia Iconica (1843-
1878). Reeve cites Hugh Babb as the collector but Babb collected
in South America although he, too, provided specimens and
information to Reeve. In 1840 John H. Thwaites brought back
shells from a voyage to Africa together with other marine items
including a new species of sponge, Plocamia plena, later
described by Sollas.

Other areas with which Bristol traded and from where shells
were obtained included Newfoundland and Prince Edward Island.
Towards the middle of the nineteenth century more species began
to come from Ceylon ( Sri Lanka) and Australia as England's
influence and trade with these areas increased. Even our 1links
with China are reflected in the shell collections, for instance
through the donations of John Reeves, inspector of tea for the
East India Tea Company at Canton (although it is not clear
whether the donor was his son of the same name and job; see Copp
1985a).

SAILORS AND EXPEDITIONS

In addition to the captains and owners of Bristol's
merchant ships, the Institute was also able to call upon the
services of several members who were naval men engaged on
oceanographic and surveying work. The donations in the early
period of the Institutions's history clearly reflect the main
themes in oceanographic work at that time, namely exploration and
coastal surveying, particularly in polar regions and South
America.



Among the better-known men involved in this work was Captain
Sir William Edward Parry (1790-1855). In 1826, Parry and W. W.
Rowland, Surgeon R.N., gave specimens collected on Parry's third
expedition in search of the North West Passage. The shells were
collected when on July 30th, 1825, their ship, HMS Hecla, and the
accompanying HMS Fury were forced ashore at Prince Regent's Inlet
where the Fury had to be abandoned. What enterprise to stop to
collect shells at such at time! The ill-fated polar explorer Sir
John Franklin (1786-1847) was also an honorary member of the
Institution at about the same time although no shell donations
are recorded from him.

Another member who sailed on naval surveying expeditions was
Captain Ainsworth who in 1827 gave specimens collected by H.M.
Surveying Ship Adventure along the coast of South America and
the Straits of Magellan. Ten years later Lieutenant Hugh Babb
R.N. (mentioned earlier) was collecting in the same area. In the
1840's Lieutenant Goldney R.N. gave specimens from Australia.

As the century developed, more civilians were involved in
oceanographic research and collecting expeditions. Samuel
Stutchbury had been on an expedition to Australia and the South
Pacific prior to his appointment in Bristol and was aware what a
source of new species such expeditions offered. In conchology
the outstanding collector of the nineteenth century was Hugh
Cuming (1791-1865) (Dance 1966). Cuming began his career in
South America, whence he returned with a rich collection of
shells in 1833, and went on to undertake two major collecting
expeditions to the Philippines in the 1840's. The shells and
plants which he brought back kept a whole generation of
scientists busy describing new species. Most of the shells in
the twenty volumes of Reeves' Conchologia Iconica came from the
Cuming collection. The Bristol Institution was sent as many as a
thousand shells by Cuming. The first donation in 1833 was of
South American shells, and further donations in 1843 and 1849
followed his Philippine voyages.

Cuming's donations are of particular interest because they
were mostly of land snails, often of new or undescribed species.
The Philippines boast over 700 species of land snail and it was
Cuming who drew the attention of collectors to their interest and
beauty. Nowadays only the brightest attract attention as
curiosities. In 1856 G. H. K. Thwaites (1811-1882), who had left
Bristol to become curator of the Royal Botanic Gardens at Kandy
in Sri Lanka, sent land shells to Cuming for identification and
subsequent donation to the Bristol Institution. Land snails,
particularly those from the Indo-Pacific islands, are among the
most threatened of invertebrates (Solem 1974; Wells, Pyle &
Collins 1983) and they are now thought to be disappearing at a
rate faster than there are workers to catalogue them, so these
collections made when the islands were still relatively unspoilt
may be taking on a new significance in addition to their
undoubted historical interest.

From the middle of the nineteenth century, investigations of
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the waters nearer home were becoming more frequent and dredging
for molluscs around the coast was providing much new information
on species and their distribution. Two pioneers of dredging
around the British Isles were George Barlee (1794-1861) and H. K.
Jordan (1838-1923). Barlee provided much information on offshore
distribution of molluscs to Forbes & Hanley (1849-1853) and his
donations of 1846 and 1853 represent some of the earliest
products of deep dredging. Jordan wrote a catalogue of British
Mol lusca (Jordan 1866) and although his collections are listed as
being incorporated into J. R. le B. Tomlin's collection in
Cardiff (Sherborn 1940; Cleevely 1983, p. 116), he also gave
Bristol many specimens between 1867 and 1917.

Among the pioneer oceanographic voyages were those of the
Porcupine and Shearwater (1869, 1870, 1871) which paved the way
for the apotheosis of oceanographic expeditions, the voyage of
the Challenger (1872-1876) (Linklater 1972). One of the men
planning these expeditions was Professor W. B. Carpenter (1813-
1885), son of the Bristol educationalist Dr. Lant Carpenter
(1780-1840) and a member of the Bristol Institution, who in
conjunction with John Gwynne Jeffreys (1809-1885) donated corals
and echinoderms from the Porcupine expedition in 1869. The
connection of the Carpenters with the Challenger expedition
ensured that specimens and copies of the monographs from the
voyage also came to the museum. A later curator of Zoology, F.
G. Pearcey (d. 1927; Curators Assistant 1905-1926) had sailed on
the Challenger as a young man and through his connections with
Sir John Murray (1814-1914), Professor D'Arcy Thompson (1860-
1948), and Owen's College, Manchester, many more specimens
eventually came to Bristol.

DOCTORS AND CLERICS

Doctors and clerics played a significant part in the early
development of the Institution. The pursuit of natural history
was seen as a suitable weekday pursuit for clerics, being a means
whereby they could increase their appreciation of God's works
whilst getting out amongst their parishioners, as opposed to the
more solitary, library-bound study of the classics.

Some of these benefactors were also geologists of note such
as Dean William Buckland (1784-1856), an important geological
author, Professor of Geology at Oxford and inspirer of amateurs
and students alike. He was one of the donors, in 1823, of a
skeleton of a fossil Ichthyosaurus communis from Lyme Regis,
which was to be the nucleus of the museum's collections. Another
donor was Henry Beeke (1751-1837), Dean of Bristol, after whom
the mineral Beekite was named. Although we do not have any
records of shells given by these two geologists, we do have
shells from a third, the Rev. Henry Jelly (1801-?) a Bath
contemporary of William Smith (1769-1839) , "father of English
Geology" (Torrens 1975).

Predictably, a good source of shell specimens came from
religious gentlemen sent abroad as missionaries, such as the Rev.



Daniel Wheeler who preached in the "South Seas" prior to 1830,
and the Rev. Tucker who brought back shells from Tonga in 1846.
Others may have been pastors to the British expatriate
communities in British trading or colonial areas, such as the
Rev. Lansdown of St. Vincent in the 1830's, or the Rev. Frederick
Smith (e) (1822-1900) who brought back shells from India in 1860,
and was also a geologist.

In 1886 Rev. H. Houseman gave four specimens of a new land
snail, Iberus housemanni (Baird) from Morocco, but the most
notable conchologist of the time to give shells was Rev. Philip
Pearsall Carpenter (1819-1877). He described many of Cuming's
land snails and was the author of the Catalogue of Mazatlan
Shells in the Reigen Collection (Carpenter 1857). The catalogue
was the outcome of purshasing 14 tons of shells from a Liverpool
dealer for £50! P. P. Carpenter was the son of W. B. Carpenter,
mentioned earlier, hence his connection with Bristol although he
only appears to have given a few British freshwater bivalves and
possibly a copy of his 'catalogue'.

Numerous doctors were actively associated with the Bristol
Institution. Several of the most prominent members and
benefactors were associated with the Bristol Royal Infirmary

(Munro-Smith 1917). Amongst these men was the notorious Richard
Smith (1772-1843) (Munro-Smith 1917), who kept his own museum of
anatomical horrors at the infirmary. His prize specimens

included a pair of testicles injected with mercury and a book of
trial papers bound in the skin of the unsuccessful defendant.
The skull of this unfortunate was often passed around at dinner
parties for people to feel the criminal bumps ! His donations to
the Institution's museum included a valuable series of Egyptian
mummies but he also gave injected specimens of molluscs in 1832
and 1837. He is said to have died of apoplexy at a meeting of
the Institution. His "jokes and stories told in a rather loud,
brusque voice were long remembered".

Less colourful medical donors to the shell collections
included Dr. William Bird Herapath (1796-1868), a distinguished
toxicologist and member of a long established Bristol family, and
Dr. Henry Riley (1797-1848) who collaborated with Samuel
Stutchbury on the newly discovered remains of Thecodontosaurus
and other early dinosaurs or dinosaur-like animals from Durdham
Downs, Bristol (Riley & Stutchbury 1842). Dr. Richard Bright
(1789-1858), discoverer of Bright's disease, typified the links
upon which the Institution and its shell collection grew. He was
the son of Richard Bright, merchant in the partnership of Ames,
Bright and Cave, all shipowners who gave shells to the museum.
Like many other notable scientists he attended Dr. Lant
Carpenter's school where he met W. J. Broderip (1789-1859),
conchologist and joint founder of the Zoological Society of
London. Bright was employed at the Bristol Royal Infirmary and
was also a geologist.

The museum's shell4collection was originally founded on the
collection of an Infirmary physician, Dr. Henry Lovel (c. 1753~
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1823), who was well placed in Bristol society, bheing related by
marriage to the poet Southey and acquainted with Samuel Taylor
Coleridge. He died the year the Institution opened but left
provision in his will for his collection, then valued at £500, to
come to the museum after his wife's death. In the event she
passed the collection over to the museum in 1824. Few of the
specimens have survived and we can only guess at what rarities it
once contained.

FAMILIES AND QUAKERS

The last major group to influence the growth of the Bristol
Institution and, by inclusion, its shell collections were members
of a number of long established and wealthy Bristol families,
many of whom were Quakers with a deep commitment to
humanitarianism and education. One of the original founders of
the museum was the Quaker Edward Long Fox (1761-1835), the
successor to Arthur Broughton at the Royal Infirmary. He was
famous for his humane treatment of lunacy for which he was called
in as a consultant to George III at Windsor. Another physician
member was James Cowles Prichard (1768-1848), an expert
ethnologist and, again, a member of an important Bristol Quaker
family.

Later in the nineteenth century and into the twentieth
century the Frys, a Quaker family who have been closely
associated with Bristol's commercial development for more than
200 years, took an active interest in the museum. The collection
of over 2000 tropical shells bequeathed by Miss P. A. Fry (4.
1916) forms an important part of that portion of the Bristol
shell collections which survived the air raid of 1941.

The Swayne family have a long and distinguished Bristol
pedigree, having produced many doctors linked to the Bristol
Royal Infirmary (Munro-Smith 1917 gives a partial family tree).
An early member, the Rev. George Swayne (1746-1827) of
Pucklechurch, was the author of a pioneer book on pasture grasses
which is preserved in the museum, and a later member, Major H. G.
C. Swayne (dates not traced), donated a large series of
Somaliland mammals to the museum in 1903. Swayne's Hartebeest,
subspecies swaynei of the Bubal Hartebeest Alcelaphus buselaphus,
is named after him. Samuel Swayne MRCS (dates not traced) gave a
guagga skull to the museum in 1871 and two mollusc donations at a
later date. He was long associated with the Institution and did
much work in arranging and organising the natural history
collections.

Some members of the Carpenter family have already been
mentioned. This famous family gave rise to humanitarians
including Mary Carpenter (1807-1877) and scientists like W. B.
Carpenter, and their influence on the Institution lasted
throughout the nineteenth century. With the demise of the
Institution and its passing into public hands, the Wills family,
owners of the large tobacco company, became deeply involved with



the museum and the new Art Gallery but this influence belongs to
the second phase of the museum's life and did not directly affect
the shell collections.

WHAT THE SHELLS TELL US

The shells incorporated in the museum collections can also
tell us much about the times they were collected and the changing
fortunes of species and habitats. Early nineteenth century
collections tend to be rich in specimens rarely seen nowadays,
such as the Prince of Orange's Flag Volute (Harpulina arausiaca)
from the seas north-east of Ceylon. Sometimes this is because
the collecting area is no longer visited on today's trade routes,
or in other cases, it is because of the destruction of a vital
habitat. Shells from Mazatlan in Mexico were at one time very
popular but few dealers have any today whereas shells from Taiwan
(Formosa) are rarely seen in nineteenth century collections even
though today that is a major source of exotic specimens.

Many of the 0ld shell collections contain specimens much
larger than would normally be obtainable today, especially from
heavily collected areas like the Philippines. Equally rare in
modern collections are extensive series of land snails other than
local ones. In the nineteenth century, thanks mostly to Hugh
Cuming, land snails were very popular and the old identification
books reflect this. Today there is not a single general guide to
world land snails available. The land snails from vulnerable
habitats like islands are disappearing fast under man's general
onslaught on the natural environment and the same is true for the
once abundant freshwater bivalve fauna of the United States.
Once, every river had its own species of Unio and nineteenth
century collections frequently have large series of them which,
to their present owners' ignorance, often include representatives
of extinct or vanishing species.

Modern collecting methods like scuba diving and the greater
ease of travel in the twentieth century have drastically changed
our knowledge of shells and our assessment of rarity. Old-time
classics like the Golden Cowry (Cypraea aurantium) and the Glory
of the Sea (Conus gloriamaris) still fetch good prices but only
because of the historic and exotic connotations. At one time it
was said, apocryphally, that you could only obtain a Golden Cowry
from the neck of a Fijian chieftain, which was not easy
considering that the Fijians were cannibals. Nowadays we know
this to be somewhat untrue (Dance 1969) and the Golden Cowries
are obtained in reasonable numbers, but never enough to meet
demand. Other old-time rarities are now considered common, or
disregarded altogether. The volute Harpulina lapponica was
considered a rare shell in the 1820's, fetching around 7 guilneas,
as was the now commonly available Regal Murex (Hexaplex regius)
from Pacific North America. In the early nineteenth century the
rarest and most sought after shell was that of a heteropod
gastropod, the Glassy Nautilus (Carinaria cristata). One was
given to Bristol Museum in 1834 but today (if we could find it
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1) it would pass unnoticed by collectors. This knowledge of the
changing value and abundance of shells helps greatly when
assessing the value of old collections in their context and can
also be frequently put to use in dating undocumented collections.

Conclusions

Assessments of the value of museum natural history
collections frequently concentrate on the presumed number of type
and figured specimens that they contain, or on what important
names are associated with them. Both criteria can be applied to
the shell collections in the City of Bristol Museum & Art
Gallery. There are certainly some taxonomically important
specimens in the collection and at one time there were many more
although it is not known whether or not they were lost in the air
raid of 1940. Specimens, many of which survive, were also given
by most of the well-known conchologists of the nineteenth
century. Although we cannot trace our type specimens and many of
our rare or spectacular shells are known to have been destroyed,
this does not detract from another and to my mind greater value
of the collections.

A study of the overall composition of shell collections and
the way in which they grew gives us an insight into a great
variety of aspects of nineteenth century life. The source of
specimens and the changing emphasis on different collecting areas
through time tells us much about the development of trade and the
growing communications with remote parts of the world. In Bristol
this is shown by the predominance of West Indian material and
the gradual increase of shells from the Indian and Pacific Oceans.

The scientific emphasis was strong in Bristol's collections
through the influence of the curators and the Institution's close
links with the Bristol Royal Infirmary. One aspect of this is
the way in which the development of oceanography can be traced
through the museum collections.

The recurrence of the same family names both individually
and in conjunction either by marriage or business is itself a
reflection of the sociology of the middle and upper classes in
Bristol through the century, especially the close-knit social
structure and emphasis on education and self improvement. The
close ties which professional men maintained with their home city
are shown by the amount of material sent back by those living or
stationed abroad.

The changing content of the collections partly reflects the
changing fashions in study through the nineteenth century; for
instance, there is a greater emphasis on local shell collections
and a decrease in foreign land shell donations towards the end of
the century. The specimens collected have their own tale to tell
of fashions in collecting and the changing fortunes of both
species and favourite collecting areas.



This different approach to the value of collections, away
from the unbalanced assessment of their strict scientific worth,
to a broader context (of which science is a part) enables us to
appreciate them in a more complete way and perhaps even gain some
deeper understanding of our own activities.
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